PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON APPEAL 


Comes now, Petitioner, David E. Bowyer, by counsel, Thomas J. O'Neill, ill, Esquire and 

Scott L. Summers, Esquire, pursuant to the West Virginia Ru1es of Appellate Procedure and 

respectfully files Petitioner's Briefon Appeal.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The circuit court erred in relying upon dicta in the memorandum decision of this 

Court in the matter of Cawthon, et al. v. CNX Gas Company, LLC, No. 11-1231, November 16, 

2012 (memorandum decision); 2012 WL 5835068 to ru1e that "[i]t is a predicate to the partition of 

an oil and gas mineral interest that there be an inability of the mineral owners to agree on how to 

develop the mineral estate." "In the absence of proof of showing an unwillingness or inability to 

agree on the development ofthe mineral estate, a partition by sale or allotment is inappropriate." No 

such predicate exists. 

2. Assuming arguendo that it is predicate to the partition of an oil and gas mineral 

interest that there be an inability ofthe mineral owners to agree on how to develop the mineral estate, 

the circuit court erred in its implicit finding and conclusion that the mineral owners agreed on how to 

develop the mineral estate. An agreement on how to develop the mineral estate cannot be found 

simply based upon the willingness ofco-tenants to sign oil and gas leases. Further, in light ofthe fact 

that there are unknown owners ofthe mineral interest at issue in this case, it is simply not possible to 

reach an agreement between the mineral interest owners as to how to develop the mineral estate. 

3. The circuit court erred in denying Petitioner's "Motion for Leave to Amend and 

Refile Counterclaim and Third-Party Complaint." The proposed amendment wou1d not have resu1ted 

in any prejudice to the other parties and shou1d have been freely granted pursuant to Ru1e 15 ofthe 
1 



West Virginia Rules ofCivil Procedure. As the circuit court noted in its "Order Granting Summary 

Judgment to Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend," the 

amendment "is nearly identical to the July 2013 amended third-party complaint, save two 

paragraphs, 111 and 112. In paragraph 111, Bowyer alleges that the parties are unable to arrive at a 

'common plan of development.' In paragraph 112, Bowyer alleges that the partition or allotment 

would promote his interest by allowing him to personally develop the oil and natural gas resources 

within and underlying Subject Lands." (emphasis in original) (See Finding ofFact 13 in the "Order 

Granting Summary Judgment to Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's 

Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 9) 

STATEMENT OF CASE 

Bowyer's appeal is taken from an Order of the circuit court of Doddridge County, West 

Virginia, entered on October 18, 2015. Said Order granted a Motion for Summary Judgment filed by 

Deborah Wyckoff, Thomas Swiger, Joyce Swiger, Patricia Ann Swiger, Ralph Dewayne Swiger, 

Geroge J. Buff, m, John Charles Buff, the Estate ofHelen Buff, Alex Semenik, Erin Brown, Maribel 

Pontious, Nelson Swiger, The Seventh Day Baptist Memorial Fund, Janice Hurst and Ron 

Cumberledge, Respondents herein and Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants below. Said Order also 

denied Third-Party Plaintiff, David Bowyer's Motion for Leave to Amend. 

"The parties to this proceeding are the owners of undivided interest in the oil, gas and 

minerals underlying the parcels, the surface ofwhich is assessed in New Milton district, Doddridge 

County, West Virginia as the New Milton map No.: 8 parcel 13 (96.25 acres); and map 18, parcels 3, 

9,10,13,14,15 and 16 (433.5 acres) (hereinafterreferred to as the "Subject Lands")." (See Finding 
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ofFact 1 in the "Order Granting Summary Judgment to Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and 

Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 7) 

"The third-party defendants, Erin Brown, Alex Semenik, Patricia Ann Swiger, Thomas 

Swiger, Joyce Swiger, Ralph Dewayne Swiger, and the Heirs ofMaribel Pontious, as well as plaintiff 

and counterclaim defendant, Deborah Lynn Wyckoff, have all leased their oil and gas interest to 

Antero Resources Corporation." (See Finding ofFact 7 in the "Order Granting Summary Judgment 

to Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 

8) 

"The third-party defendants, Ronald Cumberledge, Janice Hurst, George J. Buff, ill, John 

Charles Buff, the Estate ofHelen Buff, and the Seventh Day Baptist Memorial Fund are all interested 

in leasing to Antero Resources Corporation, but have been unable to do so due to the pendency of 

this litigation." (See Finding ofFact 8 in the "Order Granting Summary Judgment to Plaintiff and 

Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 8) 

"Likewise, the third-party plaintiff, David Bowyer, would like to lease his oil and gas interest 

in the subj ect properties, has indicated a preference for dealing with Antero, and has negotiated other 

agreements in the past with Antero, but has not yet leased his interest to date." (See Finding ofFact 9 

in the "Order Granting Summary Judgment to Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and Denying 

Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 8) 

"This action was initially filed in 2010 as a claim for a surface partition between the plaintiff 

and counterclaim defendant, Deborah Wyckoff, and the defendant and counterclaim and a third-party 

plaintiff, David Bowyer." (See Finding of Fact 2 in the "Order Granting Summary Judgment to 

Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 7) 
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In her Amended Complaint, Wyckoff sought the following relief: 

1. That the Defendant be cited to appear and answer this Amended 
Complaint; 

2. That the parties be given an opportunity to determine a fair and 
equitable division of the subject real estate; 

3. That Special Commissioners be appointed to determine the value of 
the subject real estate and divide said real estate according to the laws ofthe State 
of West Virginia; 

4. That this Court award reasonable attorneys fees incurred by the 
Plaintiff in this Civil Action and also award other reasonable expenses, 
necessarily incurred by the Plaintiff for the benefit of the parties hereto for the 
protection, confirmation and perfection of title to this real estate; 

5. That the Court determine the ownership of said real estate and the 
interest ofeach owner thereof; 

6. That the minerals and timber be reserved from any sale ofthe subject 
real estate; 

7. That Plaintiff be reimbursed for the Defendant's share of the real 
estate taxes and maintenance; and 

8. For such other relief as this Court deems necessary and proper. 

(See Amended Complaint) (Appendix at 23) 

Petitioner David Bowyer filed a counterclaim and third-party complaint, seeking a partition 

by sale or allotment to him, ofthe minerals underlying the Subject Lands. 

In paragraph 108 ofhis counterclaim and cross-claim, Petitioner David Bowyer alleged that 

"[p]artition in kind cannot be conveniently made for the reason that there are too many interest 

holders to allow for convenient partition in kind and will likely result in waste or non-development 

ofthe real estate. Accordingly, the relief or allotment and/or sale ofthe Subject Property and all real 
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estate interest further described in the Amended Complaint filed by the Plaintiff in paragraph 2( a) 

through 2(e) is reasonable, necessary, and in the best interest ofall concerned." (Appendix at 49) 

In his counterclaim and cross-claim, Petitioner David Bowyer sought the following relief: 

1. Declaratory Relief as to the ownership ofthe real estate owned by the 
Defendan~d-PartyPlaintiff and Plaintiff/Cross-Claim Defendant and Third
Party Defendants to quiet title in the real estate owned by the Defendantlfhird
Party Plaintiff. 

2. That the property be partitioned pursuantto West Virginia Code §37
4-1, et seq., as requested above; 

3. That the DefendantlThird-Party Plaintiff, David E. Bowyer, be 
allotted the entire property at a fair market value agreed upon by the parties 
and/or pursuant to West Virginia Code §37-4-3; 

4. Determination as to the amount of any damages~ rents, and profits 
owed by Deborah Lynn Wyckoff for her exclusive occupation ofthe real estate, 
failure to maintain the real estate during her sole occupancy, and her exclusion of 
David E. Bowyer, his predecessors and assigns from the real estate; and 

5. Any other relief that this honorable Court may deem just and 
equitable. 

(Appendix at 51) 

"On March 10, 2015, counsel for George J Buff, n, Jon Charles Buff, and the Estate ofHelen 

Buff filed a motion for summary jUdgment. Third-party defendants, Erin Brown, Alex Semenik, 

Ronald Cumberledge, Janice Hurst, Patricia Ann Swiger, Ralph De Wayne Swiger, Thomas Swiger, 

Joyce Swiger, Nelson Swiger~ The Seventh Day Baptist Memorial Fund, the Heirs of Maribel 

Pontious and the plaintiff and counterclaim defendant Deborah Wyckoff all joined in that motion or 

filed a similar one. (See Finding ofFact 10 in the "Order Granting Summary Judgment to Plaintiff 

and Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend',) (Appendix at 8) 
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At a hearing on March 31, 2015 the circuit court "indicated that, in the event that the parties 

were unsuccessful in resolving the matter at mediation, it was inclined to grant the third-party 

defendants' summary judgment motion absent some showing that the parties cannot agree to a plan 

to develop the minerals." (See Finding of Fact 6 in the "Order Granting Sununary Judgment to 

Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 7) 

"The parties mediated this case on April 8, 2015 and were unable to reach a resolution, 

although all parties are in agreement that they desire the minerals to be developed and further that the 

Marcellus strata that has not already been leased to Antero Resources should be leased to and 

developed by Antero Resources. (See Finding ofFact 11 in the "Order Granting Summary Judgment 

to Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 

9) 

"On May 8, 2015. David Bowyer filed his 'Motion for Leave to Amend and Refile 

Counterclaim and Third-Party Complaint' along with an attached proposed amended counterclaim 

and complaint." (See Finding ofFact 12 in the "Order Granting Summary Judgment to Plaintiff and 

Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 9) 

The Circuit Court of Doddridge County denied the Petitioner's motion seeking leave to 

amend his complaint. In denying the motion, the circuit court concluded that the filing ofthe motion 

to amend was not timely and the delay in filing the motion was unreasonable. Further, the circuit 

court found that the "proffered amendment is futile in light of the Court's conclusions set forth 

below with respect to the pending motion for summary judgment. Specifically, there exists no 

dispute as to the development ofthe collectively held mineral interests." (See Conclusions ofLaw 7, 
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8 and 9 in the "Order Granting Summary Judgment to Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and 

Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 11-12) 

Finally, in relation to the motion to amend, the circuit court concluded that: 

this case has matured well past the pleadings stage, past the discovery stage and into 
the dispositive motions and pre-trial stage and the parties have expended significant 
sums of time and expense in preparing the case for mediation, dispositive motions 
and trial. To allow Bowyer's proposed amendment at this time would result in a 
great deal ofprejudice to the third-party and counterclaim defendants and indeed all 
parties to this action aside from Bowyer. 

(See Conclusions ofLaw lOin the "Order Granting Summary Judgment to Plaintiff and Third-Party 

Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 12) 

The circuit court concluded that "Prejudice to the adverse party is the paramount 

consideration in motions to amend." Citing Syllabus point 3, State ex reI. Bd. ofEd ofOhio County 

v. Spillers 164 W.Va. 453, 259 S.E.2d 417 (1979). 

Importantly, the circuit court found that the proposed amended counterclaim and complaint 

"is nearly identical to the July 2013 amended third-party complaint, save two paragraphs, 111 and 

112. In paragraph 111, Bowyer alleges that the parties are unable to arrive at a 'common plan of 

development.' In paragraph 112, Bowyer alleges that the partition or allotment would promote his 

interest by allowing him to personally develop the oil and natural gas resources within and 

underlying Subject Lands." (emphasis in original) (See Finding of Fact 13 in the "Order Granting 

Summary Judgment to Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to 

Amend") (Appendix at 9) 

In its "Order Granting Summary Judgment to Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and 

Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend" the circuit court granted Plaintiff and Third-Party 
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Defendants' motion for summary judgment. In granting the motion for summary judgment, the 

circuit court relied upon the fact that some parties had executed oil and gas leases and other parties 

had expressed their willingness to lease their interest. The circuit court thereby concluded that all 

parties possessed a common plan ofdevelopment ofthe mineral estate. 

Petitioner brings this appeal asking the Court to reverse the circuit court's grant ofsummary 

judgment, and the denial ofPetitioner's Motion for Leave to Amend and Refile Counterclaim and 

Third-Party Complaint. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Relying on dicta in this Court's memorandum opinion in Cawthon, et at v. CNX Gas 

Company, LLC, No. 11-1231, November 16,2012 (memorandum decision); 2012 WL 5835068 the 

circuit court improperly created a new burden ofprooffor those seeking partition ofan oil and gas 

mineral interest by ruling that "[i]t is a predicate to the partition ofan oil and gas mineral interest that 

there be an inability of the mineral owners to agree on how to develop the mineral estate." "In the 

absence ofproofofshowing an unwillingness or inability to agree on the development ofthe mineral 

estate, a partition by sale or allotment is inappropriate." (See "Order Granting Summary Judgment to 

Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 14) 

Then, applying this new "predicate" to the case at bar, the circuit court improperly granted 

summary judgment against Petitioner on the basis that the Petitioner had failed to carry his burden of 

proof with regard to this newly created "predicate." 

"This Court reviews a circuit court's entry of summary judgment de novo. See, Syl. Pt. 1, 

Paillterv. Peavy, 451 S.E.2d 755 (W.Va. 1994). Moreover, '[w]here the issue on appeal is clearly a 

question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard ofreview.' 
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Syl. Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 459 S.E.2d 415 (W.Va. 1995). Syl. Pt. 2, Dunlap v. 

Friedman's, Inc., 582 S.E.2d 841 (2003)." Kester v. Small, 618 S.E.2d 380 (WV, 2005). 

Finally, in an effort to properly plead his case in order to meet this newly created "predicate," 

Petitioner filed a "Motion for Leave to Amend and Refile Counterclaim and Third-Party Complaint." 

The circuit court improperly denied Petitioner's motion to amend pursuant to Rule 15 ofthe West 

Virginia Rules of Civil Procedures. 

In light ofthe errors committed by the circuit court, Petitioner is requesting that this Court 

reverse the "Order Granting Summary Judgment to Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and 

Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend" entered by the circuit court of Doddridge County. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The issue before the Court in this appeal involves assignments oferror in the application of 

settled law arising out ofa narrow issue oflaw. Specifically, what are the requirements for obtaining 

a partition of a mineral estate via sale? 

Therefore, a memorandum decision is not appropriate and oral argument under Rule 19 ofthe 

West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure is appropriate. 

ARGUMENT 

1. 	 The Circuit Court Erred In Creating A Predicate To The Partition OfAn Oil And Gas 
Mineral Interest Which Required a Showing That There Is An Inability Of The 
Mineral Owners To Agree On How To Develop The Mineral Estate. 

The circuit court erred in relying upon dicta in the memorandum decision ofthis Court in the 

matter of Cawthon, et al. v. CNX Gas Company. LLC, No. 11-1231, November 16, 2012 

(memorandum decision); 2012 WL 5835068. The circuit court ruled that "[i]t is a predicate to the 

partition ofan oil and gas mineral interest that there be an inability ofthe mineral owners to agree on 
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how to develop the mineral estate." "In the absence ofproofofshowing an unwillingness or inability 

to agree on the development ofthe mineral estate, a partition by sale or allotment is inappropriate." 

The memorandum decision in Cawthon does not establish the requirement set forth by the 

circuit court in this matter. Simply put, the "predict" the circuit court requires, does not exist and was 

not established in Cawthon. As discussed below, the requirements for partition by sale are well 

established and do not include proofthat the mineral interest owners are not able to agree on how to 

develop the mineral estate. 

Interestingly, the Cawthon memorandum decision does state that: 

While petitioners argue that partition would not be feasible, essentially due to the 
complications associated with the fluid nature of oil and gas, a partition can be 
achieved through a sale. See Syl. Pt 3, Renner v. Bonner, 227 W.Va.378,709 S.E.2d 
733 (2011) citing Syllabus point 3, Consolidated Gas Supply Corp. v. Riley, 161 
W.Va. 782, 247 S.E.2d 712 (1978) ("By virtue of W.Va. Code 37-4-3, a party 
desiring to compel partition through sale is required to demonstrate that the property 
cannot be conveniently partitioned in kind, that the interests of one or more of the 
parties will be promoted by the sale, and that the interests ofthe other parties will not 

be prejudiced by the sale.") 


Id. at page 4. 


Petitioner herein argues that partition in kind in this case cannot be conveniently made due to 


the fact that there are too many interest holders to allow for convenient partition in kind which will 

likely result in waste or non-development of the mineral estate. 

The circuit court was simply not in favor ofpartition by sale. That is made clear by the circuit 

court's conclusion that: "The forced sale of oil and gas minerals precludes the owner the benefit of 

lease considerations and the prospect of production proceeds, which represent the primary and 

perhaps the exclusive value which such ownership vests. Therefore, the public interests will not be 

promoted by sale." (See "Order Granting Summary Judgment to Plaintiff and Third-Party 
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Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 14) 

The circuit court also found that: "To force a sale, whether by allotment or public sale~ 

violates basic tenets ofindividual property rights and, in this particular case, forces the exchange of 

an interest in real property for a sum of personal property in violation of the unqualified owner's 

right to have such interest remain in such condition as he sees fit. The remedy ofallotment is simply 

a more narrow and limited version of public sale." (See "Order Granting Summary Judgment to 

Plaintiff and Third-Party Defendants and Denying Defendant's Motion to Amend") (Appendix at 13) 

Based upon these finding, it appears as though the circuit court is holding that a joint owner 

can never force the partition ofmineral interests by sale or allotment. This is clearly contrary to the 

law. 

In making these broad statements, the circuit court has given no effect to the statutory 

language ofWest Virginia Code§ 37-4-3 which specifically provides for the allotment and sale of 

mineral interests.

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