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

mineral development, rather than be willing to move forward in reasonable fashion to 

develop the mineral interests. In effect, the Petitioner is saying, "Take what I offer or I 

will compel a sale and force you out." 

Moreover, Petitioner Bowyer cannot simply point to the fact that some parties 

have not yet leased their mineral interests and characterize this as a bona fide 

disagreement. As the trial court found, these unleased cotenants are interested in 

leasing to Antero Resources but Petitioner Bowyer's partition suit has imposed a 

9 At the mediation on April 8, 2015, Bowyer made one settlement demand, directed only at the 
responding parties who had not signed leases with Antero -- Ron Cumberledge, Janice Hurst, Maribel 
Pontious, Nelson Swiger, The Seventh Day Baptist Memorial Fund, George J. Buff, III, J. Charles Buff, 
and the Estate of Helen Buff. While these third-party defendants are not presently leased with Antero, 
they have shown their willingness to sign with Antero, or any other party capable of developing the 
minerals or assigning the lease to someone who could. Hence, at mediation, Bowyer's settlement "offer" 
was to lease to him at a set percentage and for a set bonus. Understanding that Bowyer's patent 
objective was to lease them at a lower rate and assign the lease to Antero for an override, the third-party 
defendants reluctantly agreed to discuss the possibility. The third-party defendants agreed to discuss this 
possibility only in an effort to stop the bleeding caused by Bowyer's litigation -- even though Bowyer's 
attempts at a forced sale are a clear misuse of the partition process. Bowyer refused, however, to 
increase either the bonus or royalty figures from his original offer and negotiations ceased thereafter. 
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roadblock. (Order, at Appendix p. 8, 11 8.) Significantly, the Petitioner himself 

acknowledges in his brief that he would like to lease his oil and gas interest in the 

subject properties to Antero, "but has not yet leased his interest to date." (Petitioner's 

Brief, at p. 3, quoting Order, at Appendix p. 8, 11 9.) 

In his response to the motion for summary judgment below, Petitioner Bowyer 

failed to meet his burden to show that the necessary requirements compel partition 

through sale were present. With respect to the first requirement -- that the property 

c~nnot be conveniently partitioned in kind -- the Petitioner pointed to the allegation that 

there were "unknown parties" who hold undivided interests in the oil and gas interests at 

issue. However, this fact alone is insufficient to support a forced sale. (Id., at Appendix 

p. 70.) There is a statutory process to remedy that circumstance, if it even exists in this 

case; but again, Petitioner Bowyer provided no proof. See W. Va. Code §§ 55-12A-1, et 

seq., -- Lease and Conveyance of Mineral Interests Owned by Missing or Unknown 

Owners or Abandoning Owners. 

To fulfill the second requirement -- that the interests of one or more of the parties 

will be promoted by sale -- Petitioner apparently relies on his conclusory statement in 

his amended third-party complaint that a sale is in the parties' best interests. Again, he 

failed to provide any evidence to support this assertion. Finally, in relation to the third 

requirement that the interests of other parties will not be prejudiced by the sale, 

Petitioner simply stated that the parties will receive "fair market value" of the shares as 

required by statute. (Combined Response of Defendant Bowyer, at Appendix pp. 70

71.) However, in typical fashion, Petitioner again failed to put forth any facts in support 

of this allegation. Moreover, as discussed in the preceding section of this brief, the 
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Respondents wish to retain their oil and gas interest and reap the anticipated benefits. 

Under the applicable equity principles earlier discussed, the Petitioner cannot simply 

justify his private condemnation by asserting no one will be prejudiced because they will 

get fair market value in the forced sale. 

For these reasons, summary judgment was also proper in relation to the surface 

tracts for the property in dispute. The trial court properly concluded that Petitioner 

Bowyer provided no proof that he has met the statutory requirements to compel partition 

by sale of the surface tracts. (Order, at Appendix p. 15, ~ 9.) 

Furthermore, in reference to his assertion that the circuit court erred in granting 

summary judgment, the Petitioner's reliance on Consolidated Gas Supply Corporation v. 

Riley, 161 W. Va. 782, 247 S.E.2d 712 (1978) is misplaced. In Consolidated Gas, the 

owner of an undivided interest and lessee of all oil and gas sought partition 9f the 

mineral interests by sale. In its complaint, Consolidated Gas alleged that the oil and 

gas property could not be partitioned in kind and all of the parties' interests would be 

promoted by the sale. Consolidated Gas then filed a motion seeking summary 

judgment that stated, without supporting evidence, that there was no genuine issue of 

material fact. Neither Consolidated Gas nor the opposing party cotenants provided any 

supporting affidavits, answers to interrogatories, or other evidence in the motion or the 

response in opposition. 161 W. Va. at 784, 247 S.E.2d at 713. The circuit court 

nevertheless granted summary judgment and made a conclusory finding that "no 

genuine issue as to any material fact in this action (exists) between the parties hereto 

and that said motion should be sustained." Id. The order granting summary judgment 

provided no other finding or basis for the court's decision. 
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Here, the Petitioner quotes Consolidated Gas in support of his assertion that the 

circuit court erred in granting summary judgment and asserts that the court's order 

"does not indicate factual findings to support its grant of summary judgment." 

(Petitioner's Brief, at p. 15.) However, the Petitioner is simply referencing fragments of 

the earlier opinion that are inapplicable here. In Consolidated Gas, the circuit court 

issued an order granting summary judgment that listed one unsupported reason for its 

order without providing any detailed findings of fact. Ultimately, this Court determined 

that there were possible issues of material fact that precluded the lower court's entry of 

summary judgment, and reversed and remanded for that reason. The present case is 

quite different. The circuit court entered a 12-page order containing 36 paragraphs of 

detailed findings and conclusions of law. These findings and conclusions were 

supported by the proof offered by the Respondents, and unchallenged by any evidence 

by Petitioner Bowyer since he offered none. Although the Court's emphasis on 

following a fact-specific analysis is useful to this case, it is not useful for the reasons 

asserted by the Petitioner. Instead, Consolidated Gas provides a framework to uphold 

the trial court's order of summary judgment in the instant case because the court indeed 

made specific findings of fact and determined that there was no dispute of material fact 

before granting summary judgment to the Respondents. 

Petitioner failed to meet the three statutory requirements to compel partition by 

sale or allotment. Further, he failed to meet his burden of production in response to the 

Respondents' motion for summary judgment. Accordingly, the circuit court's order of 

summary judgment in favor of the Respondents was appropriate and should be 

affirmed. 
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C. The Circuit Court Correctly Denied Petitioner's Motion to Amend. 

Rule 15(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a party 

may amend its pleading within 20 days after it is served and thereafter "only by leave of 

court ...." The rule provides for the liberal, but not limitless, amendment of pleadings. 

While the rule indicates that leave shall be freely given, this Court has "recognized that 

'the liberality allowed in amendment of pleadings does not entitle a party to be dilatory in 

asserting claims or to neglect the case for a long period of time. III Consolidation Coal 

Co. v. Boston Old Colony Ins. Co., 203 W. Va. 385,393,508 S.E.2d 102, 110 (1998) 

(quoting Mauck v. City of Martinsburg, 178 W. Va. 93, 95,357 S.E.2d 775, 777 (1987». 

Likewise, pleadings may not be amended when the proposed amendment is futile or will 

prejudice the opposing parties. Here, all of these factors are present and the circuit 

court correctly denied the Petitioner's motion to amend. Furthermore, "[r]efusing to 

grant leave to amend a pleading will not be regarded as reversible error in the absence 

of a showing of an abuse of the trial court's discretion in ruling upon a motion for leave 

to amend." Syl. Pt. 2, in part, Lloyd's, Inc. v. Lloyd, 225 W. Va. 377, 693 S.E.2d 451 

(2010) (quoting Syl. Pt. 6, Perdue v. S.J. Groves and Sons Co., 152 W. Va. 222, 161 

S.E.2d 250 (1968». Hence, this Court should not alter the trial court's decision. 

1. Petitioner's Proposed Amendment is Untimely. 

Rule 15(a) does not permit the limitless amendment of pleadings and the rule 

does not permit a party to be inexcusably and unreasonably dilatory in seeking to 

amend. In the instant matter, the Petitioner sought leave, without excuse, to amend five 

years after the institution of this action and in so doing, provided not only no valid 
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reason, but no reason at all. Accordingly, the circuit court did not err in denying that 

motion and this Court must uphold its decision. 

West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a) provides that "leave [to amend] shall 

be freely given when justice so requires." "The liberality allowed [under Rule 15] ... 

does not entitle a party to be dilatory in asserting claims or to neglect his case for a long 

period of time." Syl. Pt. 6, State ex reI. Vedder v. Zakaib, 217 W. Va. 528, 618 S.E.2d 

537 (2005). It is not an abuse of discretion to deny leave where "'there has been a 

delay in seeking an amendment even though the facts on which the amendment would 

be based have been long known by the party.'" State ex reI. Packard v. Perry, 221 W. 

Va. 526, 540, 655 S.E.2d 548, 562 (2007) (quoting Lugar & Silverstein, West Virginia 

Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 15(a), pp. 136-37 (1960». "[W]here the delay is 

unreasonable" the burden is "on the moving party to demonstrate some valid reason for 

his or her neglect or delay." Syl. Pt. 3, in part, State ex reI. Vedder v. Zakaib, 217 W. 

Va. 528, 618 S.E.2d 537 (2005). 

In the instant matter, Petitioner sought leave to amend on May 8, 2015, which is 

five years after the filing of this action, three years after his original third-party claim, and 

nearly one year after the argument which the Petitioner sought to circumvent was first 

brought to his attention. Significantly, in that time period: (1) no new facts have been 

discovered or presented; and (2) the applicable legal arguments remain unchanged. In 

support of his proposed amendment, Petitioner offered a single paragraph reading: 

COMES NOW the Defendant, David Earl Bowyer, by 
counsel, Thomas J. O'Neill, and moves this Honorable Court 
to grant leave to amend the Amended Verified Petition in this 
matter, and refile the same, pursuant to Rule 15(a) of the 
West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. (Bowyer Motion to 
Amend, at Supplemental Appendix p. 27.) 
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Absent from the paragraph is "some valid reason for his or her neglect or delay" as 

required by this Court in Vedder, and Petitioner's proposed amended complaint is 

identical to his amended counterclaim and third-party complaint save two paragraphs. 

In Paragraph 111, Petitioner alleges that the parties failed to reach a common plan of 

development for the minerals, and in Paragraph 112, he alleges that the Respondents 

stand in the way of Petitioner's ability to develop the minerals personally. Both 

proposed amendments were raised, as stated by the Petitioner in his brief, in "an effort 

to address the circuit court's unfounded and newly announced 'predicate.'" This 

argument misstates the status of the case and portrays the Petitioner's fundamental 

misunderstanding of the nature of the circuit court's ruling. 

First, the Petitioner's argument misstates the status of the case as his motion to 

amend did not come at some point wherein the facts or law were subject to 

development or new information was recently acquired. Rather, the motion to amend 

came on May 8, 2015, after the close of discovery on January 16, 2015, after the 

Respondents disclosed their experts over a year prior, after the parties mediated the 

case on April 8, 2015, and most significantly, over a year after many of the 

Respondents filed their initial motions for summary judgment or dismissal in Spring of 

2014. Discovery was ongoing and those motions were not granted, but the issues 

raised therein are the same, or extremely similar to those adjudicated by the circuit 

court in the motion for summary judgment argued before the court on March 31, 2015 

that is the subject of the instant appeal. Specifically, Respondents Cumberledge and 

Hurst argued in their May 2, 2014 motion for summary judgment that, "in this case, 

Bowyer has not and cannot allege or demonstrate that any of the Movants will hinder 
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his ability to develop or profit from his interest. He has not and cannot demonstrate that 

any of the Movants are unwilling to sign a lease enabling the development of the 

property" and accordingly, partition, as Petitioner sought, was improper. (Cumberledge 

and Hurst Motion, at Supplemental Appendix p. 5.) Thus, the underlying facts and law 

behind the Respondents' defenses were known to the Petitioner for over a year prior to 

Petitioner filing his motion to amend. Again, Petitioner provided no reason for his delay. 

Secondly, Petitioner's brief demonstrates his fundamental misunderstanding of 

the lower court's ruling in that the court ruled on the facts before the court, including the 

existence or non-existence of a common plan of development. As the court correctly 

concluded, all of the parties either have signed a lease with Antero, or are agreeable to 

doing so. (Order, at Appendix p. 8,1111 7-9.) The circuit court, in reaching its decision, 

did not decide the case under Rule 12(b)(6)'s "failure to state a claim" standard. Rather, 

the court implicitly applied Rule 15(b), assumed that Bowyer's complaint included all 

necessary elements of a partition action, and determined that there was no issue of 

material fact after applying the law (as though properly pleaded) to the facts under Rule 

56. In essence, what Petitioner Bowyer seeks, five years after the institution of this 

action, is not to amend the pleadings to conform to newly developed facts or law but 

rather to seek a "do over" to allow him to reset the clock and go back and fabricate a 

dispute among the parties. To allow him to do so at this time would not only be 

improper and prejudicial (see below) but futile as the court has already decided that 

there is no issue of material fact under the revised pleading. See Equal Rights Gtr. v. 

Niles Bolton Associates, 602 F.3d 597, 603 (4th Cir. 2010) (addressing the nearly 
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identical Federal Rule 15) (holding a "court may deny a motion to amend when the 

amendment would ... be futile."). 

2. Petitioner's Proposed Amendment Would Prejudice Respondents. 

Conspicuously absent from Petitioner's single paragraph "Motion to Amend" is 

any analysis of prejudice. "Prejudice to the adverse party is the paramount 

consideration in motions to amend." State ex reI. Bd. of Ed. of Ohio Cnty. v. Spillers, 

164 W. Va. 453, 455, 259 S.E.2d 417, 419 (1979). It therefore follows that if the 

adverse party will be prejudiced, the amendment shall not be allowed. 

In this case, the parties had already completed discovery, named experts, and 

mediated the case when Petitioner sought to amend. All of these activities required the 

expenditure of time and money. Furthermore, the parties have already lost the 

opportunity to profit from the latest gas boom as prices have halved since this action 

was commenced and activity significantly diminished in that time. Plainly, if the 

Petitioner has his way, the parties will be forced to relitigate what has already been 

litigated resulting in additional expense as well as further lost time and profit. This is 

essentially the definition of prejudice. 

v. CONCLUSION 

The circuit court did not create a new predicate to partition by sale. Instead, it 

applied well-established partition law to find that the Petitioner had not fulfilled the 

requirements needed to warrant partition by sale. The circuit court's grant of summary 

judgment was proper because the Petitioner wholly failed to meet his burden of 

production and has not established the existence of a genuine issue of material fact. 

Finally, the circuit court's denial of Petitioner's motion for leave to amend was correct 
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because the Petitioner's motion was untimely in that it was filed nearly five years after 

this matter was initiated and the Petitioner's proposed amendment would be prejudicial 

to Respondents. 

The circuit court's decision granting summary judgment in the Respondents'

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